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Computer software is amostized over o period of three vears. The rollforward anatysis of computer

saflwane follows:

021 201210
Coat
Balance at ihe beginming of the year 44025 P42, 185
Additions 15,479 1. %40
Balance ni ibe end of the vear 59,504 44.025%
Accumualsted Amartization
Balance at 1be beginming of the year 14,989 12844
Amortizateon (Noles 20 and 21) 4,551 2275
Reclassifications S00 i 130]
Balsnce at the end of the wear 40,040 34.989
Nt Boak Valae FI!& P36

14, Aceounts Payable and (iher Current LEabilities and Unearned Income

Accounts payable and other current labilities comsists of:

ol atiz0
Acoounls payahle FIYT 269 P515.992
Acoued expenses JRE. 599 432927
Funds payabic 240,628 [40.41%
Oiber pavables 12,023 [k |

FIOM 1S P, IS5 GRS

Accounts payable pertains bo the Groap's obligsison 1o local suppliers.  Accounis payable also
inchodes payables 1@ squdems which are considercd Comraet habilities as disglosed below,

Accrusd cxpenses consist of:

=021 2020

Provisions (Mobe 21) P19, 266 P30 266
Payahle to wappliers 100,970 1774 46
Acenied salarses and wages 19,222 21661
Acemad professional foes 15,259 21,515
MAcorooed interes) I8 057 146, X80
Moo comvmamacstion & peTee R 15047
Withhobding taxes and others 15,564 12,003
555 and oiber contributioes 5156 60D
Contraciad services 5,605 36ET
Aooned wrislinaes 42010 AT
Cutpurt VAT paynble £.181 24615
Insurance 3081 | 504
(ithers I8, 480 44,910
PIKS, 500 P4312.927

Funds payable includes fumds received by ihe Croup from Depanment of Scicnce and Techaology
(DT, Commission on Higher Education (CHED) and private entitics for thesr scholarshap
programs io be granted to the Group's studonts, and NSTF and CWTS foes collecicd from students.
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Onher pavables include outstanding balsnce oa the acguisition of sdditional shares from LUNC
amounting o fil as of December 31, 302 and PS0.68 million as of Devenber 11, 2020,

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other payables are nonimierest-bearing and are expeciod fo
b settbed within a year afler the financial reporting date. Funds payablies are nonsatenest-bearing and
are expeciod to be settled apon pavoul related o the funded profects and schalarship programs,

Lnpearmad focoms

Uncamad inconse amousied o PE3E 4 million snd PGR0.6 mallion as of December 31, 2021 mnd 2004,
respectively. This maialy includes sncamed tunion fees smounting te PO35.6 mallion and

P&ETD0 million as a1 December 31, 2021 and MM, respectively,

Crontract Liahilities

The Group's comtract lishilities ropresend the urearmed mition fees (presented under unsearmed
meome ) and accounts payable 1o students {peresenied wnder accounts paysbie), These will be
recognived as revenue when the related educational services are remdered. Accoants payable to
studenis ase advanee cellections from studenis o be appliod 1o the next school year or school lerm,

As at December 31, 2021, contract linhilities amounted to P69 44 million and these will be
recogninad & neveno in ke following veasr. Comtract liabilities as of January |, 2021 smoumsting 1o
PTOR.13 million were recognined as revenue in 2021, The decrese in contract liabilities in 2021 is
maimly doe 1o 1iming of corol e period Gor Schaood Yoar 20212022 sl deerease in pumbaer off
stisdents for ceflam wchools.

13 Related Party Transadiions

Related party relationshaps exist when the entity boas the abilaty 1o control, directly or indirectly, through
one of more imleemadiaries, or exencise significas influence over the entity in making fnanscial and
operating deciaons, Such relationshups also ¢x1s Between 0nd'or amosg cnbitses whach are under
comumnon control with the reporting entity snd #skey management persosmel, direcions or stockholders.
In conssdering cach possible related emtity relationshap, atiention is direciod 10 the substance of the
relatbionship and not merely the legal fonm.

Following ane the transactians swith related pastics and the balasces as al December 312
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The Group's significast fransactions with relafel pertics follow;

el

i

ol

ol

L

1

Pavable fo T
Thas acvouid peftaing o managemenl and dber profeswonal fees charpad by HI fof sdmimistenng
the Growp®s opemtions (Notes 20 and 21),

Receivables from T
This sccount pertains to fel consumption, car plan snd gym reetal sdvancead by the Group, These
are ol ndercst-hosring and are payable on Jemancl.

Reveiviehies from enrities under common condrod of Hi

Receivables from entitics under common comtro] of HI anse from H subsidearics” lease of the
Ciroup's camteen Kiosks in its Makal and Intramuros properics and expenses advanced by the
G, T dewm ol e bease w5 for poo yow od senewable willy wmifiem conta) pay monis.

Favalles to enities wader common comtrol af HI

Payables to entities under common comtrol of HI periain to property managemeni and jansiorial
maid SecUFRy seryecs (coalinoias] services )

Accomnats pavable to eniilies ivider comman confrol of W7

Accousis payshle pertains 1o 1he outstanding balance of general cost of construcizon of school
trud i mnd anbor Dacilivies wind profossborel Foos dolasied e e Buildiig comimsciion (i 10

and 14}

Cash ond Cask Egquivalenis
The Company maimuins cush usd cash equ valem with ias aililisie benk and eirms interesa ingome
i prevailing deposit and shon-tenm investment rafes (Nobe 7).

Receividles from earitics woker common controd of PAIMNIC
Diue frodm entitics under common contral of PMYMIC anses from RUBC s rental of 1he Groap's

office spaces in its Makati property.

Favalles fo eniitles wader comorn contrel of PAMIC

The Group obtains property and personne] insusnee with ks affilisted insuramce company,
Malsyan lesurance Company, Inc. (MECO). Insurance conlract coverage pertains (o the Group's
fire, acoident, group ard athar insumaese poalicien

Payvable fo relared partics
Payable 10 related pasties mainky pertains to management foes charged by AC for the
mdmimistraiEon of the Farent Compamy’s operstions,

Acenwmrs payable o relored parries
Pertains to the water wility bills and professtional foes pavable io other afliliates.



COnher rebated pany trassacions follow:
@) The Grrowp mamtains its eetirement fund with RCBC Trust Division (Note 251, Trust fees pasd by

ihe retirement plan b RUBC amouniad o F1L23 mullson and PO millson for the years ended
Drecemiber 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

f Compensation of key management personngd of the Growp
The remuneration of direciors and ofher members of key management are s (olbows:

2021 i | Rl 2009

Shost-icrm bemeliis IR TE8 P37.044 P4 138
Post-cimployment bene s 140401 b 342 1.138
L T PIE IEG FAT, O

Terms amd conaiions of fraasacnion with relanad parties

Crutstanding balances at year-cmd are snsecural, imtersst froe and settbement eocurs sn cash. For the
years enided December 31, 2021 @and 2020, 1he Groap has nof recondked any impainment losses on
receivables relating to amounts eowed by relsted pasties, This assessment s undertaken cach year
through examiniag the financial position of the relsicd pany and the maikel in which the relased paaty

operaics.

16, Shorl-term |oams

= In 2017, the Growp, through MOMI, obtained a short-tarm boan (STL) facility with Bank of
Philippine Island (BPI), which was carmaried from the boag-term loan facility of the Group from
same bank. o finance the constnection of MCMI's school bullding. Each STL facility may be
re=ssvaaledl Frnened e Bended wathin o l'H"-r;.III rl!'i'nr_-f:"m' |;H'r'r||ll||‘|||'u.| fhcaf 1he waaris ol Ehe B ol
re-gvailments rengwals’ extension will not excoed 360 days, The STL facility may be converted
ingo & 10-year term boan facility whach shal be pastially secured by b real estaie morigage on
the real property of MOMI. The STL faciliy is secured by the Contmuing Suretyship Agrocrment
af MES]L Annual imdercst mles range from & 50RG bo 4 7525,

The Groap, through MOMI, alse chtained short-4erm foams from Land Bank of the Philippines
(LEPF) in 2020 amoustmg 1o PST3 millsoa, with annsal inlerests mnging from 4. 70% 10 6,25%
The lnars are secared by the Land owned by MOMI,

Ousstanding balance of shon-term loans obiained by MOMI amousted to B400 0 milhon and
PATE.0 million as at Decomber 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

= In 201%, the Group, through MESE, obtaned ursecured peso-denominsted short-term loans with
AP smdundimg go PO mellion with anmesd mileresd rales ranging from 5500 b 6,00%, o
finamc: ihe soquasition of Bamd from HI ansd the construction of MESI s schood bualding in Makati
City (Notes 10and 11}

T 20200 andd 2015, MESI obnmed unsecurad peso-denominaied short-term loans with Robinsons
Bank amounting to 15000 melhion and P1,050.0 millson, respectvely, with smnual mierest mie of
5. 300%% 10 finance the constraction of the new school buslding (Mote 10}, Fall payment of the
hoars were made 0 2020 amousiing 1o B1,240.0 mallion.
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s In 2019, the Group throagh APEC, availed of short-term, imlerest-beaning loan from a bank
amounting to FTOU0 million 3 7.50°% inberest per asmum pavable mondhly, This was fully paid in
2009,

The Group msde payments amownting to PIT5.0 milkion snd P1254.3 mallion in 3021 andd 2020,
respectively. Totad ST deawdowns im 2021 and 2020 amouneed to P0000 milkion and
P25 million, respoctively,

Indercst expense chargad to operations in 2021, 2020 and 20019 amouinted to P67 mallion,

PIE. 2 mllion and P37.2 millson, respectively (Note 22). Interest expese that was capitaloned as pan
ol constnsction of MES1 s bualding m 2021 and 2020 amounted to ml and B58.0 millon, respectively
i Note 10,

17.

Long-term Loans

This accoant consists of the followmng as of December 31:

RN — .
Unseoured bank loans PR, 000 P3R5, 00K
Secured bank loass 1,494 646 | 4922375
Total loams 1.574 646 | BTE2TS
Less currend porison 21,001 -
Nomourrent portion P1LR5Y 645 PLET2,275

Unsecugod

The Ciroup, through NTC, enterad into a | 0-vesr umsecurad tenm loan Gacility with a thied panty local
bank for P630.0 millson to finance its buslding nefurbishment and'or expansion (see Note 10), The
perineipal paymees will he made in 28 quaresly paymends starting Moy 222 A< of

December 31, 2021 and 2000, iotal drawdowns amounted o PRE0 millson. The P00 million is
subject to 5, 5% fixed rate and the PRO mallion & subject o snnual repocing based on higher of 5.5%
or the provailing one vear benchmark mite or dose rate of 3 hquid 'sctive security, oz agreed by the
parties, with the same benor iF benchmark mie i ot refleetive of maket ente, plus inferest spread, In
September 2021, the 80 millson is converted toa 5.5% fxad rate.

The loan is subject 1o cemain covenants including maintaining o maximusn debi-to-ggquity stnoctuse
ratie of 3: 1. As of December 31, 2021 and 2030, NTC has comaplied with s covenant obligalions,
inclading madntaining the required debt-to-equity ratso, For 2021 and 2000, inferest expense
recognized in profit or loss amounted to P21.3 millios and PE.5 pullon in 2019,

Cusrend portion and nongurrend porson of loag-fenm loan as of December 31, 2021 amounted bo
P21.00imikion aod F159.0 milhon.

Segured

Im 2009, the Group, through MOML emtensd mio a ten-vear socared loag-term loan agreement with a
bocal hank For #1,500.0 millson 1o relinance the comstructson of MOME's school bualdings and
facifitics that were miteally funded by short-term loans. MOMI made partial drawdowns against this
agreement ameniing o BAS0.0 millkon, BFI50,0 milbon and BL70.0 million m Janmary, June and July
2019, respectively. The loans were subject to prevailing borrower's rafe, plus a mimimum spread of
0L50F%% per amnwnm, bat in no ease lower than 4% per ansum, subject (o quanerly repricing. MOMI
shall repay (he laan 20 equal quarterdy installments to stan at the end of 21 quanter from the nitial
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drawdown date. The loans were secured by the land and selsied improvements owned by MOCMI with
carrymng vaboe of F2,382 0 million and P2, 261 % mallion ax of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, and surcyship of MESH (Note 10k The kans were subaect 6 certam positive and
ncgaiive covenants such as the requiremendt for MES] 0 mamian sis debd service cover raiso of ai
beast 1.0.a all times and 118 debt-to-oquity ratio of ot least T5:25 sarting on the thind year of the loan

{ Famuary 2022) reckaned from initial dawdown date of January 20140,

MOMI incurred debt issue cost amaounting (o P 1.2 million which is beng amartized over the loan
term of 10 vears using the effective mterest method, The amostization of debt issee cost ansmanting 1o
P24 million in 2021 and 2020 were roconded ai part of mlerest exponse.

Indenest expemis, including amortizabion of dobl isane cosl, amodnbod bo PH3.6 million i 2021 and
2020 and PSE.3 mallion in 2019 (Nate 22).

Cratstanding balance of sequred long<lerm boans as of December 31 follosas:

021 2030
Principal i1 A e Pl S0 (e
Unamoicd dobt kssoe ciwsl | T, TS
¥l P1.492.275
. Equlty

Capital Stk _ ) _ _
Capiial ssock consists of 2 000,000,000 austhorized shares with 044 263, 197 issued and outstsnding
comamon shares 35 of December 31, 2021 and 2020, with a par valee of Pl per share.

O September 15, 1989, SEC approved the regstration of the Parem Company s entire authornzed
capilall sbock with a Certificate of Permit to Sell Secuntics mslhorizmg the sale of 2% hallion shares
worllh P250,00 million, The Parent Company’s capital stock was listed in botls Mamils and Makati
Stock Exchanges om Jasuary 14, 1990, Actual namber of shares indtially listed is 15 billion ot an
offer price of PO per share.

Below 15 the summary of the Paresl Company “s outstanding namvber of shares and holders of
securities as at December 31

Number

Mumber af halders

af shanes of seoekies

Yoar regisiensd s o vear el
January 1, N0 (155 s il 2m?
Addd (deduct) movement - {4}
Decamber 31, 20210 e 262 XS 2003
Add {deduct) movement B, - _
Deocmbser Z-II:I 2021 Iﬁ&jil'ﬁ Il{hﬂﬁ-



Retained Eamings

In acvondance with Bevised Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule No. 68, 1he Panent Company's
retained earmings avalable for dividend declamivon a< al December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to
PE239.2 mulleon and PYEL0 malbion, respectively. The Parent Company aad sts ssibsydianes wall
declare dividends out of their retained carnangs available for dividend declamtion.

The retamed earmings acoount m the consolidated siatements of fmancial posstson includes the
nocumulated equity m undistnbuted camings of consolidated subsuharics amounging

P6, 236,53 million and P6,043.84 million as at Decensber 11, 2021 and 2020, respectively, These are
mol avallsble for dividends ungil declarad by the subsidiares.

The BOD declarad cash dividends as Eollows:

2inti i ] 019

Movember 12, 3020,

(0. 2303 per share) bo stockbalder of

recond & aff Movember 28, 2021, payable on

Mecember XX, W21 1R 0 - -
Apel & M2,

(L0 per share 1o stockholders of

recoed ol May 7, 2021, pmable on

My 30, 2021 PR = -
March 17, NN,

(FOOTO 143 per share) 0o siockbolder of

recoed m ol Apal (4, 3020, payvabds on

May X, 2000 - TRI4R -
June 29, 2009,

(P01 373 per share 10 slockholdors of
recoer s of faly 25, 3019, payable on
Augus 16, 2019 - - 14318
March 19, M09, &% cash dinvidends
(P06 per chare) b stockbodders of
revond as of Apnd 15, 2019, payable on
My 14, 3019 - - 44 914
#11 P75.248 P9 Y74

O April 1, 2022, the BOD declared FIGT 08 mallion cash dividends (PO 16 per share) bo stockholders
of regord as of Apnl 29, 2022, payvable on May 20, 2022,

Capatal Managsxmen

The primary ohjective of the Group’s capaial munagement i o ensure 1hat @ mamiams a strong credit
rating and healihy capital ratios in order 6o saippor iis business and maximicn sharcholder value, The
Crroup comsiders its equity atinbutable o equity holders of the Pagrent Company as Capital.

The Croup manages (s capital structure and mekes adpstments to o i light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintsin or adjust the capial stnecoure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
sharcholders, retem capital to sharcholders o isue new shares, No changes wen: made in the
ohjectives, poliches of processes during the veans anded Decamber 31, 2021 and 2020,

Ax at Diecember 11, 2021 and 2020, the Croup s not subject 10 extemally imposed capital

requiremicnts excepl for the long-lerm loan of MTC th i subject o debt 1o oquity mibio requeramen
(Mot 17}
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The Ciroup momtors capilal using a debt-to-oquity mitso, which is total Habalities divided by todal
equity aftributablie 10 equty holders of Parent Company., The Crroup®s poticy 1% 1o keep the debi-to-
equuty rafio not ko exceed 2:1,

1011 20210

Liabihities {a} FE00H.841 P5,.219.750
Equity (b} 10,869,371 10,252 816

Diebe-to-cguity mfio (a'b) (L46: 100 0.51:1.00

1% Bevenus fram Contracts with Ceslenier
Revemie from schonds nned related cpemirons comsists al

pilrs] 2020 2009

Tuition amd other matricolation fees F33T0.9)  PRIZIOH PLOGORLS
Luws: Seholarchip grams and discoants (189.683}) (273 203 CEN TR

LRI 2,050, 748 S B20.9%4
Crher siadent-relaned income:
Seminar foe income 6,484 i 352 6571
Mizcellancous BE A5 i 2 W | S,

FIASL06T  PLOITI06  PLO96.T73

Miscellaneows mcome consasts of ofher studens related income which are other than payment for
buition fecs, Thise mclode, bui not lim#icd toy olrance cxaminaison foos, oxil cxominaisn focs, onl
examimation fees, gradustion fees, cenmificatzon of grades, good mworl and atber schao] credentiaks,
phetocopying penting, and bookstore sales, among others.

Dsaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts with cusiomers basad on iise thming of revenae
recognition:

0l H020 0]
Hevenue from schoods and relaged operations;
Revenue from mition and other
malrsculation fecs (over time) P1.281,271 P2,950, 748 PLREX 934
Othor stodent-rekatod income
(&1 a poind in Linse) 69, T96% 6 358 | 6, X35

SLB6T  PRLOIT.I0R  FLO9G.TT3

For the Group's roceivables and contract |sabilisies, these are disclosad [ Mobes 8 and 14, respectively.
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200 Cast of Schoals and Related Operations

Cost of schools and related operations sooount consists of:

2021 2020 2009
Peramne] expenies [MNole 24} #1052 944 PO T BOE Pe2T, 214
Deprecistion and smortszstion 4560 567,984 36,843
Management amd otber profesional foes
i Note 13) 91,716 | 39,208 166,467
Studenil-related expionses 70,926 111,052 216,292
Perodicals a4 0641 554 A0, |95
IT expense - softwane hocnse THH0 To 46T 46,854
Lniligies 0,131 61,547 2=, 761
Accradilation cosl 23077 il.682 I, k22
Repairs and maintenance 24,629 20,045 A4 664
Advertising RIURES IR ATE 5, 5
Tools and library books
i Notes 10 and 1.5) 15,991 VA1) A3 ey
Rescarch asd developmend fsnd 15,8740 10,738 16,211
Iesuranee 10,325 10,50 1o,1a1
Taxes and licenses 7978 1321 2 R%0
hluiallaE iy T2l . T L, Tk
CTece sispplics 2,432 i 3T 16,06
Labowmiory supplics 1,601 3,728 T.935
Entenmainmen, amusement and recreation 1.124 1 210 1,375
1 ransportation and travel 1150 L 1) 2163
Rent (Note 1) 165 P84 430
Mlisce llanimrs,. 4. 363 5 580 4,012
P1.914,579 1005405 P 2040, 1A
a. Detosls of depreciation and amortization folles:
TEl 020 2075
Lreprecamion { Mode (0] EAGT, I8 F1 RS2 Eiil 9RG
Depreciation - ROU assets (Nobe 31) 54,832 SE.0S 47,234
Amoriration - Studint relalionship Mok 6) A5, 6 i 1] 4,574
Armarioration {Mose 131§ 4 551 £ 275 1,518
P4 5 463,432 P397.612
b, Deprecistion and amonization expenses as funcion of expense follows:
Tkl 02 2015
Cost of schools and related operations EI%T 152 Pi12.302 P53 610
Coal af pohoals and related opemtions ROL
assets (Moo 31§ 51,013 55682 47,253
344,166 367 54 AM%41
Crenerad and adménistrative expenses (Note 21) 1139 95438 Bl THY
o i L g P 422 | R



21 General and Adnministrative Expenses

This account consis of:

sl Ly 020 209
Feramne] expenies [MNole 24) Lo L PF21Z 165 Fl43 472
Management nnd oibser service fees
i Mote 15) 136,251 I 5 b 1K (RS
Drepreciation and amortization
(Motes 10, 13 and 200 112319 45,418 Bl TH8
Provisions for doubtfisl acoounts (MNote ) 114,229 48,755 L
Adlvertisinig 40,147 26517 21,400
Taxes and licemses 15,442 1997 15485
Repairs and mainmlensnos 1,576 15422 7288
Liligies - £ 1 13,414 11.3m
Insurunes 6,944 3,125 5304
Donations 1LET7 4452 3.767
11 expense - soltware loense Iy Ayxs A
Transporiation and travel Lin 2,500} 5133
Enterainmend, amusement, and rocneation 236 2,549 l6al
L omemssion X 1 2.2} 529
Seininar o bt LAY 112649
CMTice supplics 713 1,720 4,004
Investor relations 1LETT 1,306 9,765
Rent (Note 31) 150 547 3361
Mo | Exniis JL, 45N LA ) 12,671

Ot A5 P ] G042 P4z1.401

Management and olber service fees consist of property managemsent fees, janitomal and security
service fecs, lowyers, payroll specislists and ofbers {Mote 15),

Mizcellaneous expenss includes dues and subscreptions, manual and irmining matenals, perodicals
and other contracied services, among others

22, Interest Imconse, Interest and Other Finamce Charges

The Group's entesest inoome consiss of mberes: from the following sources;

2021 220 2019
Cash in banks and cash
cquivalents {Note 7} P, 50 PI0,734 P22.430
Advances w officers and emplovess
{Note &) 142 163 128
P, 192 F10,597 P22 758




T,

The Group's icrest amd other financing charges consast of imerest on the following:

hiEl 02 ZE9

B kaortetonm, boama (Moke 16) e, TG FLE30S ot i

Long-berm loans (Node 17) H4 BT Bl Bl 5 R
Iigerest cxpenas o kase labslitics

(Mote 31) 25841 35,584 2. 742

Bank charges 1E. 1 IX 238 5411

_ PLIEETT PL31762 [TESREL]

21, Inoome Tax

Pressdent Rodrigo Duterse signed imio lase on March 26, 202 | the Conporate Recovery and Tax
Incemlives for Enlerprses (CREATE) Act to alfrmact mone inyvestments and mamiam I"'u-l;.ul[u':.u:ll.-nl;c
nnad sinbalety in the Philippines. Republic Act (RA) 11334 or the CREATE Act introduces refoems 1o

the corpoente ingome tax and incentives systems, 10 mkes offect 15 davs afber its complete publication
in the Official Gaeelte or in & newepaper of perers] cerculation or Apnl 11, 2031

The following are the key changes to the Philipaine tax law pussuant to the CREATE Act which have
an impact o the Gioupe

1

Effectrve buly 1, 2020, reguilar compodats income tax (RCIT) e 18 raducad from 3096 1 25%
For cimestic and resident foreign comprations, For domestic corpombions with nel taxable
imcome mot excesding P2 millon snd with total sssets it excesding PIO million {excluding
land on which the basiness entity's offie, plant and equipment arg siaxtad) dusing the
taxable vear, the RCIT rase is reduced 1o 2%,

Mimimuen corpomie inoome ax {MCIT) rafe reduced from 2% b0 1% of gross incomse
affective July B, 2020 10 June 30, 2023,

Effective January 1, 2021, income ax mie for ponresident foragn corpormtson is reduced
from 3P o 239,

Preferential income tax mte For propeicarny educational institaions andd hospitads which ase
nonprofit i redocsd from 1095 10 1% cFective July 1, 2020 up to June 30, M3 and 107
thereafter.

Impesition of improperly accumulnted carmings tax (JAET) s ropealed.

As of December 31, 2020, the impact of CREATE Act was comsdensd as a non-adjusting
subseguent evenl. Henge, ihe impact oo current and deferred fax was recogeized in the 2021
consolidated finameial statements.

Benefit from (provision for) income tax consists of:

021 220 pa L1

{ wirrenl PIHR21 (P47, 147 (PS5 AIR)
Dieferred 13,552 14.324 (8,177
PI0A78 (F32E15) (P67 595)
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The reconciliation of stabutory tax rate of 25% in 2021 and 30% in 2000 10 effoctive incoms By mie

follaws:

p{ L | Skl 2l
Income Before income X at statutory rabs 25.00% 30.00P 300
Add (deduet) reconciling ilems:

[Nfference in income By rate {19.35) (21.57) {14.51)
Iimpaci of CREATE Act — cames fas

expense (4.200 » 2

Cthers (624} 350 4.19

[ 4.H0%5 ) 11.9%% 149, 78%

MES], MHSSI, MCLIL MOMI, UNC, NTC and APEC are educational instinnions which are sshject
ta & lvwer or preferential income 1ax rag of 100 until June 2020 and 1% thereafter unti] June 2023,

The Ciroup”s net delerred tax assets and Habalinaes consist of the following:

[ L] 200
Defemed 1ax assels
Adlewanoe for ECL Fl6,0d2 22 84
NOLCO 6,002 -
Retirement assci 087 6140
Dheferred school fees 4 2912
Umrealizad forcign exchangs loss . I
AR, 118 31,901
e ferred oy Finbalifies - med
Revaluatson inoremend on Land A, 044 454,01 1
Inge|bectual property rights and student eelaticnship h GHE el 153
Accruals (15,431) (15.450)
R etenemenl liabiliees {10,519 (13210
Allewange for ECL {6,693) {4.556)
Allewanee for inventory obsolescence {53) (33)
NOLOOD - {106k
Onhers 1,155 (1815}
459, 109 4TH97T
Mct defiemad inx linhilitics PaS1,051 P45 076
The movemenis of the Growup’s net defenred tnx labilitses fodlow;
LR S0
Beginneng PHE 0T P63, 331
Provisions during the vear (13.550) (14.324)
Reversal of deferrad tax lability on revaluation
ingremgnd af lamd sald through sale of pebasdiary
{Pepie 01) - (273,792)
Tax effocts oft
Eevaluatson incramend on Lend {(Mote 11) 16471 1,715
Femeasurement gains | losses) on definad
benefit plans (Note 25) 3,056 (6.554)
P451.051 _P445.076
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The Ciroup dsd pot recopnize deferred tax assets on the fallowing NOLCO, MCIT and temporary
differences because the Group believes that it may nod be probable that sufficient taxable meome wall
bz availabhbe im ke future agamst which 1he lox semelil can be realrel.

s 2021 2020
Tax effect of
MO a5 P50 1401
Allewance for ECL 1. 703 1.703
Provision For retirement and others 124 1,005
Cihers a3 42
MOIT 1,838 1,356
PA5 484 P rayT

As al December 31, 2021 and 2020, the details of NOLOO and MCIT, which ase available for offea
againsd future taxable meome and tax payable, respedively, follow:

NOLCD MOIT
M2 N M 0
Beginning balance PEO2, 178 P4RE 424 1,396 FTRO
Additions AR AR 160,581 14 T30
Expiration i BG5S ERT { 14T, I3} i =i} {114
T:ndig& halance 424, M6 POz 78 PILAXE Pl
ROLOO MOIT
Yoar of Yoar of
Year Incurred Espimticn 2021 2020 Expiration 2021 Lk
2020 H2H PRR 418 P- 024 PEIR P-
2020 2% 160,881 PlELER] 2023 70 PTH)
2010 o ) 175,667 1 75, 60% a3 S0 SRk
JOlE 201 - |65 GRT LR | = =ik
HEM I'.‘HIIEII?S FILEJE_ F!,J-i

MOHLCO meurrea in 2021 and 30200 can be carmiod vver o thie mest Gve vears by the nepociive
enlries m acoordmmee wilh the provision of Repobic Act (RA) Moo 1 1494, Bayvanihan 10 Becover A
Ome A, with implomsoniting gusdclings covered by Bevenue Regulations Mo, 25-2020,

4. Persoanel Expenses

a.  Details of personnel expenses are as follows:

ikl 200 019

L iompensatsen L1258 442 FE, | il A e O
Retirement benefits (Nate 25) A5 290 .2410 27857
Miscelanoous benefis &7, 260 | [, O 05 65X
1,228,332 Pl 256,947 B, 070686

Misceflaneous benefiits penain to hosoraria and mandatory povermment benclins, among others.
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b, Personmel expenses as functon of expense follows:

Al 202 2019
Cost of schools and relased
operations (Mol 20) P1032944 P1.037 208 PO2T.214
Genernl and administrative expenses
{ Mo 21 195,388 212,163 143 472
P1,228.332 P1249.971 P10 ARG

k|

Reibremicnt Plans

The Geoup has o soencontributory and defimed benefit retirement plan covering all of Hs regular
emplvess, The bengfits are based on the yoars of service and percentage of lsest manthly salary, The
retircnsent bemefi s tbe only long-term benefi ghven o employees.  Short-torm benelis are exponsed

culrighl.

The meost recent actuarsl valuabion was carried out in Jsnuary 2002 for ibe sctirement plan of the Group

as a8 December 31, 2021,

The fodlowing tables sunenanze the composenis of zmounsts recognized I the comsolidaied statements
of fmancial position for dbe retirement oblipation'ssset and pemsson expense recognired in 1he

comsalidated statements of comprebensive incomse.

ettt L R X
Nel pension assels FI8, 130 Pa.T2T
Met pension Habilithes 124,152 168,134
Componenits of pension expense Tollw:
1021 2020 019
Current service cos PAOETD 17410 P27 182
Net infenest oost on defined benefid
ohligation o, 7L 4,320 675
Curtailment gain - (7.4%9) -
Mel pension Moe 24 Pia. 241 PX7.R57

The net pensson assets necognized in the consolidated statements of financial posatson & at

December X1, 2021 and 202 55 as follows:

2021 2020
Fazr valuce of plan aszeis 1D, 646 P55, A5
Prearnt vabne nf definesd henefit ablipsisns CRALE N i (51 Ay
Fffect of asxet coiling (2d7) i 1543

FIEIJI P4.727
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The et pensson liabilities recopnized in the consolidated statemsents of financial position as af
ecember 31, 2021 and 20080 15 as followss

ZI1 201210
Fair value of plan asscts PLi4,626 PIR0.589
Present vabue of defined benehit oblipation (138, 7T78) (440023 )
{124,152) (P1GE, 1540
The movemsents in the net pension liabilites (assets) follow:
2021 2020
At beginming of vear Flek 407 PaT643
Contribution paid (15,290} [ 2.055)
Net pension expense 45,500 342410
Remcasarcmeni galn {losses) recognizad in O] (69, 154} G B52
Adjustments and revenals (2.667) -
Benefits paid {5,863} (273)
At end of the vear P10, 021 Pli63.407
The med pemsson lishilities a5 of December 31 wore derived as follows:
pli o | A
Present vabue of defined benefit oblipmion P440,079 PAO0,44T
Fair value of plan assets (334,403) (337, 194)
EiTect of maset coilling L7 154
Net pension liabaliies P02 P1E3 407
The reconcilisivon of the present value of definsd henefil obligation & as fdkass
2021 2020
Begimning halamse PoML44T P416.105
Current servioe cos 44,799 17410
Inlerest ool (AR Db
Benefity pakd (39.257) {26,002 )
Curtailmont gain [E BT | T ART)
Remeasuremeent losses (gaing) on obligation:
Experience sdjustnsents i27,9709) 5540
Changes in demographic sssumptions (2517} 52T
Chasges 1o financial assmpliocs {45, Wi} 44, 455
Endisg halance P440,079 PEHLA4T




45 .

The reconcilistion of the fair value of plan asses is as follows:

021 2020
Beginning halamce BRET 1494 PR30 ARE
Bemefiis paid (30.361) (25.5929)
Inferest income 1377 16,149
Contribulions paid I5 187 20 05%
Remeasufemenl gairs (losses) on plan asses {8,273) {2, 766)
Withdrawal (1.582) -
Adjustment to plan assets (479}
Ending halance B340 P337,104
Remeasurement bosses (gains ) recognized in OC] follow:
2021 S
Remeasaremeni losses {gains) (FT7.661) P63 074
Return on assefs excluding amound meluded in net
IAbErEs] Cost 507 -
Total remeassnement losses {gains) recognised in
O] (P69.154) Pii 074
The distribution of plas assets 33 al December 31, 2021 and 202015 as Follows:
2021 Pt
A maunt % Arting %
(Cash and cash egquivalenis P21, 0904 D JE% PO, P 53.59%
Envestments in:
Covermmend secunlics 151,080 452 1% 13X E5) B 1%
Certificate of time deposits ; i ; :
Taguiiy msrunminte 004 (EEL T 28,1 B.32%
bmierest and other reccivables i RE] Li%s 30T i 53%%
Accriad truat Tees (LA ] =BT [ 2RI =[hH3%
[ F] 1 el ielr® P17 3TS Lk (s

Actual retam on plan asscts amounted o PE26 mallion and PI338 milbon @ 20201 and 2020,
respectively

The Croup plans to contribute P22.4 millson in 2022,

The principal sctuarcal assumplions wsed 0 determiming retiremonl experne are as follows:

i g | 2020
Dhiscount rae:
Begmnming L6S%G-4.07% i, T35 5l
Emd L95%-5.107% A68N-40T
Salary imcroase rale:
Eecpmming Li%E-5.91% X NP et (M
End II%A00%  LDNP-E00Y



T

The sensstivity analvsis that folbows has been determinad based on reasonably possible changes of
gach significant assumpticn on the retirensanl beoehit obligaton &% of the eml of reporting period,
assumang all other assumphions were bedd constimt.

As al December 31, 2021

Increase
Rate  (Decrease) Py
Discount rate £ 68% +100bps BXO1,386)
+.56% -100bps MR2TI
Salary rabe S.TI% w1 bps FLob, 72
4. 558% ~l8ihps M5 365

As ot December 31, 2020
Ineneast

Rate  {Decrease) PV
Dhiscount mide G4t g Ll PR, TEG
63T -1H0hyps 378,256
Salary rate 4,500 + 100 [LEFRE {
3507 - 100bpe 200, 790

The sensitivity analysis shove has been determined based on o method that extrapolaies the impact of
defined benefit obligation as a result of neasonable changes in key assumptions ocowming at the end of
the balance sheet date. There were no changes from the previcus period inibe methods and assumplions
issed in propaning sensitivity analysis.

Each year, an Asset-Liabiloy Matching Siwdy |ALM) & perfomed with ibe resalt being analvzed in
terms of risk-and-resum profiles. 16is the policy of the Trustee thad immedisic and nes-Serm refirement
habalsties of the Crowp's Retirement Fusd afe sdequately coversd by il assets.  As such, due
comsileratsons are given thal portfolio matursees ane matched in accondance with due benefit paymenis.
The Retirenseni Fund's expected benefits paymenis ane determined through ibe latest actuanial reporis.

26. Earnings Per Share

Eamings per share amounts atirsbuisble to equity holders of Parént Company are compuied as follows:

2021 20020 2019
Net income altnbutable to equity Bolders of
Paresit Company (4) PGS0, 108 P245818 254,588
Weighted average number of milstandung
shares - mel of treasury shares (b) 1,044,263 144,263 S48, 520
E.lmi:nEPn share (awh) P62 2354 PO_26802

There are no dilutive potential shares that would reguire disclosure of dalwed camings per share i the
comsolidaied fimancial statements,



=7 =

27, Mon=tonirolling Intersd in Consalidated Subsbdiarie

This represenis sharcholilings in matenal subsidianics not held by the Gsoup. Proportion of equity
mberet beld by non-controllang mterests (RO in Trucﬁnl.-.n'h.s?iriﬁ for 2021 and 2020 falloas:

U 2020
Linvemsaty of Madva Ol 16 38% LR )
Mational Teachers Collepe mI1% 0.21%

Mon-conirolling nberests in malerial sebsidisries a5 a1 December 11 Tollows (in millson pesos):

I0ZE 2020
Univonity af MNuacva Caoorrs FIds F217
Mational Teachers College H L

Duvidends pad 10 non=chmtredling indenist in cormolidated subssloses amounted & nil m 3021 and
220,

As ol December 31, 2021 asd 2020, the summanzed financal imformaton attnbatable to noa-
coniraliing mierests in maberial subsularies 15 shovan below.

{1 il lian pesos)
Llirainy &l Meaia ateinial Tosdhas
i
3aXi i 1] Eadl 20
Rt
L wrent Fnin ¥ L L 0 FIx4
SOTCUETORL EascTs 0, Al S XTI j.axy
.7 i, T4 P [T
1 Eahdlitis and Frosiy
Tt adilies Flla Pisn P54 Flia
Mrourrenl Lakdhiies 151 1%] 447 AT
- E 121 id SE5
E ity i, 49% | AM i, MR ki
P PE,TE Pkl Pl
ATt 0
Eegquinly s of puidcl [ ] Lt Fl, 1 Fl.ns4 [ k]
m ﬂ E "‘!H a N
Sk revoams LN Bl L] P
LELLE I &5 123 hiFl 1%l
Sfd b e | Baa I (¥ 5l [T
TR
Figuily heskders uf fucn P13 (P19 Fil [
L L 4 LLE] i 5 L
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28 Owperating Segmient Information

I he busaness segment 15 delerminad as the prmary segment reporting fomaad as ibe Liroap's nsks and
ralex of meturm ane aflected predominantly by cach operaling segment

Manmagement monitoss the opersting resulis of its operating segments sepasalely for the parpose of
minking docksion aboul rosimances allocation saoy perfonmamor assessanenl. Croup Ooancieg (im: luding

inberest incoms, dividend mcome and interest cxpense) and inconse 1axes ane managed on a groap basis
ansd mre mot allocafed o openting segments. The Group evaluses performunce hased on income before
meoene tax, and camings before meome tax, depeeciation and smontization. The Group does nol neport
we rosidis based on peographical segmenis bocases the Group operates only i the Plalippiscs,

The amount of segment assels and Habilities arz basad on the measurement principles that are simitlar
wilh thase used in measuring the assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
which 15 in accordance with PFRSs

For managamend parposes, the Group is orgamised mto busines units based on the prodiects and
services it provades, whach comprise of two (2 ) mann groapings as folbows:

Education - primarily consists of revenses of MES], MCLIL, MHSS, MOME, NTC, UNC, amd APEC
in edocation.

Oxhers - represent support services which cannol be dinectly identificd with the nepostable segment
mentioned shove,

Segment financial information = reportad on the basis that it is wsed imternally for evaluating segment
performance and allocating resources o segments.

Sepmend assets and lisbilities exclude defemed ax asscis and liabilities,

Segmend reporting ks consistent in all periods presensed as there are o changes. in tlbe structure of the
Crroup s mbemal organizston that wall cxuse the compastizon of 118 reportable scgmment to change.

Capilal expenditures comsest of additions 1o proserty and equipment, including land scguisition.
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29 Motes an Cansolidatod Statements of Cash Flaws
o Changes m the Growp's babidlsites ansing from financing activities folkow:;
Siam-ru

Declaratin  Amorticstion A dditiens
mof Cah of deld lvose  om Loase  Inberssi

a0hE  Disddend gl Nl  Fupepieie il Flaws i}
Shart-leren i FATE (e} [ [ [ e FEE D) PAIHD HEF
Lang-dirm ke LETLITS - LTI = - (28 LEILEEE
K ldenids pas ahile LRt L5 . {50 L450) LKL
Payalbles b rolabed partis D4Rl - - - - (15 HE) (ERELY
L. dabilifies L - - g 1 19 AT
PLESSIO)  p3]LeSe F1.37 P57 FIRENL P9 09H) PLAGNTI
Nisfr-canh Charges
[ larsmon Liabslimies  Adddiioen om
ol Ceal isverfcad Thoes [Zr= lsesl
2000 Dividond Morger  labilities  Fapeme  CashFlows 3000
Shed-fie=a loans LML R [ P ¥ P Pl OIRAEN  PLTE DO
Long-icrm loamm. | e - =17 - IETI2TE
[ Wil pwable he 2 T3 248 TR 2E) iha
Payabdis B rolaio] pariis 1541010 - - - - 4.0 204381
w
e H!IE '£|H| Phassl PIEES Illijjlﬁ P
Mon.pash Changs
[Declaration Liahdligses At i oo
ofiCash  wepmsd froms L Jragren
2008 [hvidend Mgt ladiline:  Ixpeme Cash Flowa bl
Shewtlorms loans el SR L B CRTLE F - (P 00 P s
Longsenm loara I"El.ﬂxl AT | b
[ sillgras panuhils ATHW 23T | Ai5d - (RERTED) hi
Fayables so relaied parses 15014 ’ L (R
Liasg Ll - t]‘l.ﬁJ"‘. ?I& 'EI'JS! 1-IE|I.E| 418 E
F20001] PR1S &TH Pl O6d P33T P, 20 1, Thd Al

o Nopcmh investing sctivities in 2020, 2000 and 2019 pertain to the revaluation of Land amowenting
P20E.& million, PS00.3 million and P28 millon, respectively (Nose 1 1)

o MNopcash investing sctivities in 2009 also iaclude the non-cash business combination as desclosed
i Moke b

30, Fimangial Insiraments

Fair Value of Fmancial Instransonts
The fodlowing tables sel foath the casmyving valies end estimated fair vabues of the Group's fisancial
assets and lishilities recogmized as of December 31, 202 | and 200

Carming 1A
_ Asenni Level 1 Lovel 1 Level 1 Tatal
i imancial sasciy measored sl
Talr valee:
Fisancad fscts @ FYTFL Fa.x11 XY P - PFeila




Carrying M

Fizsrssial aoescts nissamared @i
Tovi Lalim=

__Fmnsaal gt @ FYTPL I P T B P o A L

The Group uses the following hiorarchy m determaning and disclossng the fair vahie of financial
instruenents by valuation 1o hasgques:

o Level | - Quotad (unadjestad) market pricod i sctive markets for sdeaticall assets o Tiabi i

o Level 2 - Valuation technigues for whach fhe lowest Jevel input that is sigeificant fo the fair value
measuremen is directly or indircctly nhservahle

o Lovel ¥« Valustion technigues for which the lowest lovel input that i sigmficant 1o the fair value
mcaagement b unobservable

The followimg methods and sssumptions were used 8o estimate the fair vabee of ench class of financal
instrusnest for whach 3l s practicabls Bo cafinsate sach vahss:

o Caidy aned corh egeivalemie. recchablen, reorivablis from relared’ povties, refamokably oleposie,
aceounts pavable el socrued etpenies, pavabies o relaresd porites, dividlesds poyahde, amd chorts
drm fostr- carrving amounts spproaimae fafr vahses due 1o ibe shosi-lermm naiure of ihese
Ao,

o Fingmedod assers of FETPL - dhe (ir vabues are based on net xssets value per umst (MAVPLL
r Faulty iecruments af FFCKT = fair values were detenmined ssing guoted mark el prices at fimancial

roporting date. The nvestments ase inclisdod within the bevel | of the hicrarchy. The movemneont
in 1 cost and gain os disposal i 3019 sre as follow:

RtE
A at Jaruary | [
Changes in faar vabue BN 1,
Disposal [ITAETY
Ax ot Dgcarmber 31 |

The remaining unreslized loss ee squity issrruments st FYOC ] smounting to PRA0 wws closed 1o
retmned carnings in 2000,

o [owgrerar fooven = the carrying value appreximates the fair valoe using the EIR method because
fusare payments are ducounted based on intorest an markel rase.

A al Docember 31, 2021 and 2020, there wers mo transfors between Level | and Levd 2 far value

measurcenents. Thene are no financial axsets ard financial lbsdises recognized at fair value based on

Level 1 and there ane 6o transfors m and ot of Level 3 cabegoeses in 2021 and 2020, No fisancial

imatrumspni £l winkin Leval T,

The Groups principa] Mmancal mstromenis comprise of cech and cash equivalonts, recoivables,
receavables froen relabed panics, fisancisl ssct at FVTPL, refunidable deposits, scoounts payable asd
accnacd exponses, payables to related panties, dividends payable, lease Fabalitics, and boans. The mam
purpoas of ithesr financal instrumenis is b0 mise fimances for the Groop’s opemisons.
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The masn raks ansisg from the Group™s feanoal imetrements arc erodif nak and higusthty k. The
BOD reviews and appooves the polscies for namging these risks. The Awsdit Comenitiee and the Risk
Managomend Commibios of the Boand mocts rogularly and cxercises an oversight role  managing
pisds,

The Giroup's sk munapemend polscis are samenasicad as follows:

£ oreclis Fisk and comcvniration of cread Fiok

Credin risk 15 the rek that o pamy 10 8 Gances] instrascont will Gl w dischange an oblsgation and
caree the other panty o incur fimancial loss. The Group's expesune 6o credit risk relales primarily to
e imabality of the debeors and students o pay and 1o fully seale the unpaid balance of Tustion oo
and oiber charpes, respedlively, nhach are owed 1o the Group baed on the installment payment
schemes, The Cirosp mansges s credit rak im sceordance with iss credin policies by muisisining
sttt poligios g mod allowing stigbents b0 gl in the following oo smless ihs unpand balange en
ik previous term bas beon paid. The Group abo withholds the academac records and clearance of the
stuiddents with unpaid balances, The Group's exposuse o credit msk ansing frons is otser reveivables
from dettors and relsted parties is mansged through close sooount mwomitorsng aed setting of hmits.

Concentrations ans when a momber of countersartios are ongagod im s lar busisesa activitics, or
activities in the same geogrmphss region, or have samilar sconomic festures thas would case their
ahilaty o moal contractual obligabons to be vimalady affectod by changes in economic, polstical or
ot conditions.

The Group docs not base sy signilicant exposare to any' individual aesomer or counterparty. With
pespeet bo eredin ek ansang frem cash and cash equivalents, receivables, ansounts dus Froen related
pariics, finaniaad asscts 38 PYTPL. and refundaflc doposits, the Group's caposure to crodit nisk anisgs
from defaols of the commicrpariy, with a maximem exposure equal to the carmymg amount of these

imstrumente. As ot Deoamber 11, 2021 and 2020, there ase no callaterals held in rclation ba the
Ciroup’s finsncnl assets

The table Below shows the creds risk sposare on the Group®s financial mscls s of
December 21, 2020

Gross carrying Espsciml suvadid lows

mnseuni ai delauli {Impalred|

Cash in banks PAIN NEL =

Cash equavalents 1L152.916 -

Rocomvabdes oo

Tharticm asd other foes 1,246,584 250, 6K2

Trade A, LETH

Related parics 16,07 -

(hirs TL 150 5135

Finmmcial assets af FYTPL L el B -
b oo [ 17,081
F1, 006850
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Decembser 11, 20

{3n0ss carmying amaming Expocted credit foas
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Cash m banks Pidd 5T4 B
Cash equivaienns 471,55 =
Feoonvabiles from:
Tuitbom amd othen fovs 1,160, T % I8 9TH
Trade 5452 103
Related parives 26, IME -
Crhirs 47 K1% 5377
Finswual avwgts af FYTPL ¥, 03 =
Doposits 251X .
P2 508 G PITITAR

As drsclosod in Note 4, e Group rocograns as allowance for ECLS for all deba instrunmsemsts not behd
at fxir valoe. FCLs are hased on the differcnce between the contraciual cadh flows due in sccordssce
wiidi il wimdiond ainl all Be caedi Chews it die Ohunip capasts W iogney, divausiiied &6 o

spproninaton of the original effectve intereat rmte. The expected cach flows will inglnde cad flows
fram the sl of collatoml held or other credit enhancements that are infegral 1o the contrachul femms.

ECLs @y isvagnicad in two stapes. For wolit sypmuecs T whisls thery has aid bsxm a signifivan
imcrease in credil nsk since imitial recognition, ECLs ase provided for credi bosses that resall from
defauk events thai are possible within the 12 months (o 12-mosth BCL). For those oredit expisunes.
for which there has beom a significand increase n credii nsk since il recogmiion, & boss allowanoe
i denuigend Fur gredin bonowes eaprecienl vl the eomiimng lile of the expunune, Boaspective of tinng of
the default (a lifctime ECLL

An impainnent analysis is performed at cach reportimg dase wsing a provision mabrix s measure ECL.

The nextanys of the ECL alvulaiiom mxd ihe key clomosn ane, as folhoms;

a.  Prabability of cefoals (P12 s am estimate of the lkolihood of default over a given ime horaon.

b, Exprar ar defmals (EAL) 15 58 estemang of the exposure ol & foture defaul date waking into sogous
expecied changes in the exposarne aller the reporting date.

. Lows prven degnn? (LGEY s an esimae of the boss arising in the case when 8 Gefeall ocours 5168
Ve lienc.

The Gireasp’s deba instnements ol amortized cosl comgree of cach asd cash equivalents and refumdable
deposats that arc conastorod 1o have low oodit nsk. Hende, i1 1= Bhe Geoap's policy 10 mcisurs ECL
o sl instrunsent o & §3-month basis apphvisg the low oredit sk sienplification and based on i
F[ which is pablicly snaalable. Howewor, wher theng has boaem a spnificand increase in credit msk
snce origimabion, the allowance willl be hased on the lifehme ECL. The Growsp uses external cred
rabings Both o determise whether the debt instrament has significantly ingreased in creds risk and 1o
estimate ECL

Fuor fuition and oiher fees recenvables, the Groep applies o sinplefied approach is ealculating ECL.
Therefare, the Groap docs nol rack changes ineredhil risk. bat instcad rocogmines a loss allowance
based on lafetine ECL ot cach reponting date. The Girowp pemerally uses a provision mairix to
calculate ECL. The pronvision rtes sne based oo days past due for groupings hased on schoal tenm,
The provisson matrix is initially based on the Group's kstoncal obsorved default rates. The Group
willl then consider direatly relevant Forvard-loowing information, AL every peporing dane, the
historical obsorved default rabex are apdated and changes in the forward-looking cstimates are
conssdered.
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The Giroup may consder a mancial asset 16 be an default when imtomal of exiemal mfommation
imadicaies that the Gaowp is undikely 1o receive the cutsinnding costractual smounis in full before
taking inlo actoant sy crodil enhancements held by the Group. A Nisancial st is written off when
thare 15 M Pedsoeahle cxpocmbon of recovenag the contractiaal cash flows,

The agieg of fuition snd other foes (cument and past due sccounts) and the ECL as a8 Devember 31
folboms:

- - .
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Eigwialley rink
Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will notbe abie 1o meet its obligations as they fll due.

The Group seeks 1o mamage s Hguidity nek ic be able b0 meet ils opemting cash Mow roguiremenis,
finanie capital evpemftines anil servioe manring debin.  As an inherent pan of 85 lgquchny ek
manapomend, the Croop ropularly ovalmates s projeciod and aciuad cash flowz.  The Troasury
Deparinsent is responsible For monitoring the shon-tem loans sed demand deposins of the Group, D
assesses the slatus and matueity pomisd of the lsans snd deposats o be able o delommine the fimancial
standing of the Group snd whether the funds being muinmined will he abls to accommodaie any
ianseg Habilitics. Shon-term snd long-tem hindieg ane obtained 1o finance capatal expendstuncs amd
working capital. Tooover its shor-ienm and koag-term fusding negairemenis, the Group intomds o e
imsernally pemoratod fumds and aveilable crecn faodines. Credit [nes ase obtsined From  BOI-
dicigmated hanke at smounts haved on finsncal forecscic spproved by BN A at Decomber 10, WO,
the Giroup has availablie short-tenm crodit facilites with banks aggregating PS0 mallon. In addition, the
Group alo has available kong-tern credit faclitics with a bank amoesting 1o P27 million & of
December 21, 2021, Shor-lerm loans obtairod by the Croup are nonewabde sebyect g0 the torms of 1he
EETSCICNS.

The iables below summanize the matundy profile of the (roap’s fmancial assets beld for hqudiy
purposcs. The mabangy groupings are based oo (he nomaiming perisd from the end of the financal
repoating daie 1o the confractual maturity dae.

o]
Laws than More than

iin demusd i year | year Tatiml

Finarcial asscls o amantieed ooss
Cash [ £F LA - ¥ PR RN
Lash equivalkemms LISE"]& = = IS E
Foceivahlis™ AN 4TS dIEIT = [
Receivables from relased paries 2T " = IhTT
Fonand il sseis w5 FYTPL 2113 - - 113
[hopumits = - EE el BTN
FEIIRAES P4I0HAT FIT.8R] PY&TS 46T

Tenctimilling adtrancer b ailkoers amd yepdenon
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Less than By than

O derad I woar i woar Tl

Fimargual aascs ol anaHiues] gind
Caih F342 514 P F- Pl T4
Canh gqunvalends WY S - W71 50
Eegxivabls® 445 TET e L - 14415
Beccivablos o relatad partics 26 05 . 2 AR
Fraamcual saasts & P TRL i Tad . Q704
[asraoninls = = 29133 323
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The imbles below summmanze the matunity profile of ihe Group’s other fimancal habilites as o
December 31 hasad on comraciual usdicounied paymenis ssd contrcenal remaining maturities.

TTr Lt
L than Moy ihan
Ein demuend 1 vear i year Tatal
Avcmunts payable and aconed
Exprnscn® PS50, %58 PE®R 55 F PAZ0,4H)
Payubdes o related panies 14,158 14,058
vk payaibls Aay - - a4
Shir-temme loans B 1 ]
Lo laabalilies - o LI | L] | ML TR
| Beien howr - i L a i
PLAE K5E [t I | TR R IEE TR
J00
L than el than
Ol et Yy 1 Snai Tital
Apcounts payable and ol
capeaes PR A P42 [ - I
Payabies to related panties Fa LT 30 )
Derviadcrsis payalblc 245 = 2 fd
Short-ierm losns ITE 000 - I8
Liane habilaies - TAETI 418 400 ENpTEG
Long wrm boan - - | BB (WY |, Esay {0y
[ el K ) PAST O [ T (AR T

Commliments and Coniingene e

Leme Comnuitments

Garoage as o hessor

The Growp's Intraevures asd Makati camguses brase spaces 10 Digaied, levesmmens Mamagers, lee. (IMI1)
and Bell Telocommeamoation Philippenes, Inc, The lease lomms cover lesse perinds of botween thiee (3)
yeare 6o 1on (10) vears with escalation retes ranging from 3,000 o 10007,
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The fuitiite minsmirm fofals reccivable under the aloramontionsd lease agroonsents fallow:

Al 22
Within oo yoear L FLF) FETD
More thas anc year bt nol mors than five years A543 4,036
Later than Fve yenrs . |
iR L i

Cariugs an feiaoe

The (roup |lesses baildmg spaces for office and schood siles and asmexes. from (hind-party lessoes for
a penicad rangisg froem one 10 ten vears,  The Group applies the "shon-scmi lease” rocogmiteom
excenpilicn fof S loasss with lease terms of ond vear of ks,

Lipon sdopSon of PFRS 16 in 3019, APEC recognizad might-of-use axsets snd lease llabilitics from
iese opcraling loase agrocmments.  Fof those beases subjectad to PFRS 16, the 1BR wsed in the
computation of leass liabddites ranges from &80 1o 7, 30% Is 2021 and from 3,000 o & 239 n N0
{500 Note 51

The rollforwasd anslysis of APEC"s nghd-ofsuss assets folboos:

i ind | 20
St Boaok 'l.-'ﬂuuu.'ln'n'.-r:r I 346,005 PaRT.e=]
Mdditiomis 17,318 17,5
Amonization [Mob: 2a) 15482 (53,985}
Mt Book Walue af Decomber 31 F.i-l'lﬂ'jl'l PRA6 08

The fodlowing are the amoundts rocognized in the 2021 and 2020 saiement of comprobepsive income
(Note 200

STl 2

D-.-prmnm npmmul'ngh:-qrﬂmw PELRAT P54.9%5
lihsalipies 3
'I'nu1 ixed b profE or lows 73 g
The mllforwan] analisia off APELT s keaso liabilitaes fodlows:

e _han 090
.lusltlmu.q- I Eigd g5 R IR
Addingns 1,500 f X4
Ingcrest exporse (Mote 22} Rl 15,384
Pavimeis {67, 196) (0. H20h
Asat December 1 FIST RIG PA92, 552

The balasce of lesme Nabdlities as of December 30, 2021 and 2020 are as followx

: . __ 20zl 2030
Lease liabilithes = casivim Pan 5] P, 1T
L g liabilstics - noncurent AT, SMEACE
As 3t December 31, 2021 F157.R20 P32 S%2
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Shown below s Ehe maturity analysix of the endiscousted lease prvmionts as of Decomber 11, 2021
mnd 2020:

izl =50
Within oo year FISA19 P733T
Meone tham one year bt less. than five years IR, 201,870
Five yeass and msore Th, 906 146,539

418192 PSL1 730

Ax disclosed in hote §, the Group perfomed an impainment testing of property and equigement

andl nght-of e axsets of APEC amounting o F355. 18 miltion as of Deoember M, 2021 duoe 1o the
conlisming bosses and significant dedine in nember of students doe to the coronavirus pandemse. Key
assurEnplives used s as Tollows:

»  Revense peojections and bang-lems prowth eate 13%) Revonue progeclions based on linascal
budpets appnoved by mansgement and considered ihe Enpact of the coronavines pandemic. The
bong-term grewth fate i the cxpeciod growh rale in the education indhmstry soctor,

o [hescount rade (1 1% The discount rate used for the computalion of the met present valoe is the
weightod average <ot of capeial snd was daormined by reforonce o comparable [esiod compasics
im the educatsons] sechos,

In 202 |, managomont asscssed that no smpairment ks shookl be recognized.

Fronerions o Comtinpoadcres

e The CGiroup s myodved in centain claims anising from the odinary condoct of business which am
cither pending deciaion by the couris of ane beimg conbesied, the outoome of which are not
presemly determisable. The estisnate of i probable costs for the resolution of (hese clams has
bz developed in consultation with external councels hardling the defence i these matiers and
o basedd upon an snalvsis of potential rouls, The whimat disposmion of thess mangrs cannot be
determined with certainty. The Growp will exhaust all legal remedics available io @ in defonding
ilself m ehese claims and proccadiegs. Provigons & of Decoamber 31, 2021 and 2020 amoamsed
o 1595 millhon

The dasclosure of additional detals beyomd the present disclosure may prejudice the Group's
position and noegoliation sirascgies with respect 1o these matters, Thus, as albowed umder
pangraph 72 of PAS 37, Provisos, Contingent Linbilithn and Contingent Arues, only a genoral
descripiaon is prosided

32,

(hbser Maners

In a moss 16 contam the COVID-19 casbircak, oa Manch 13, 2000, the Office of the Presadon of the
Philippines ssoed a Memorandum direciive to impose siringeni socal disiancing measumes i the
Mational Caprtal Reypson effecnve March 15, 2030, On March 16, 2020, Presidental Proclamation
Mo, 919 was ssuid, declarng a State of Calan by throughout the Philippises for & pored of sx (6)
manths and imposed an enhanced community quarastine throoghout the iskand of Luron and other
parss of the couniry and the commemsity quamntine contimses {or selected areas in 2022,
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The Group recognicod the health and busmess msks posed by the vimis 80 the poenoral poblic and the
need 1 join the collextive elfort in mifigating the specad of COVID-19, In the face of this glohal crisis,
e Circmup romaine coliechxd and sigibnt as it oporaies amd maantains maligatsn eflarts 0 help
safeguand the bealih amd sat@dy o iy crspbnyess and snadenss, Lomadening the evolving razete of s
outhreak, the Groop s contibmoasly awewdry at this time the impact 1o ils fnascial positson,
perfosmance and cash fows. The CGroup has bken measures 0 manape the risks and uncertalntics
hrought aboast by the suthreak and wall contimue 10 monifor the situation

33,

Approval of the Coasolbdaied Financial Statements

The consobdated fimancial staterments of the (eoup & 3 December 30, 2021 and 20020 and for each of
i thiee years un the pesod ended Deosmber 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were approved and autborrod
for issmance by the BOD on Apeil 1. 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUMTOR'S REPORT
ON SUFPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Steckholders and the Board of Diroctors
ilFeople, inc.

3rd Floor, Grepalife Building

219 Sen Ciil 1. Puyat Avenue

Malcati City

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Stasdards on Auditing, the consolsdaied financial
statements of (People, ine. and is subsidinres (e Group) as at Decensber 31, 2021 and 2020 and for
ach of the 1hree years in the period ended Deoembstr 51, 2021, and have Issued our repom therson daed
April 1, 2022, Ouwr sudils weee made for the purpose of forming an opirsos on the basic consolidated
fimancial stalemonts taken as a whole. The schoedules lsted i the Index to the Supplemontary Schadules
ane the responsibility of the Growp’s management. These schedules are presented for purposes of
complying with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 65, and are not pant of the basic
oorsolidvied financial statemenis. These schednles have beon subjected o the asditing procodianes
spplied in the audit of the basse consolidased financial siatememis and, in ouir ofimion, firly siase, in all
material respects, ibe Onancial information reguined to be set Forth theren i nelason 1o the hasic
consolidsied financial smsomenis tkon as 3 whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Qo on © Busgnrds

Ana Lea O, Bergado
Partner
CPA Cortalicaie Mo, ROET
Tax Identification Mo, 102-082-6T0
BOATPRC Reg. No, 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 20024
SEC Parteer Accreditation Mo, 0660-AR-4 (Group A)
Dieber 22, 20070, validd wntl Oetober X1, 2032
SEC Finm Accreditstion Mo, 0001 -SEC (Grogp A)
Valsd s cover awdit of 2021 o 2025 financial stasements of SEC coverad instiisons
BIR Accreditatson N 08001 %98-063-2020, Naovember 27, 2020, valid ustil November 26, 2023
TR Bo. BEEXTY, Jaomary 3, 2023, Makati City

April 1, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUIMMTOR'™S REFORT ON
COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

The Steckholders and the Board of Diroctors
ilFeople, inc.

3rd Floor, Grepalife Building

219 Sen Ciil . Puyat Avenue

Malkeats City

We have audited n accondance with Philippine Stasdards on Auditing, the consolsdaied financial
statements of People, inc. and its subsidinres (e Group) s at December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for
ach of the 1hree years in the period ended Deoembsr 51, 2021, and have Issued or repom therein daied
April 1, 2022, Our sudits weee made for the purpose of forming an opition oa the basic comsolidated
financial stalements taken as a whole, The Supplomentary Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators,
including their defimtions, formulas, calculation, ard their appropristencss or usefulness to the intended
users, are the respomskbilisy of the Croup's managemsenl. These fimanciol soundness indcatons ane nol
mseasures of operating perfoemance defined by Philippine Fimancial Repoeting Standants (PFRS5) and
mxy noi be compuarable to similarty titled mensures presemied by other companies, This schedule is
proesemied foe the purpose of complying with the Revised Securises Regulation Code Rube 68 lssued by
i Securitics and Exchange Comimission, and ks nat a rogaiged part of the basic consolhfased fimans ial
stalements prepared in accordance with PFRSs. The components of these financaal soundmess indicators
have been traced to the Groups consolidated financial stalements as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 and
for cach of the theee years in the period ended Docamber 31, 2021 and mo mateniad excepiions were nobad,

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & OO,

ﬂ....ﬁ.e':ﬁ.,s.,:,

Ana Lea C, Borgado
Paninct
CPA Certificate N, B04TO
Tax ldentification Mo, 102-082-670
BOATRC Reg. Mo, 0001, August 28, D021, valed until Apnl 15, 2024
SEC Parimer Accreditation Mo, 660-AR -4 {Group A)
October 22, 2009, valid @bl October 21, 2022
SEC Finm Accreditation Mo, 0001 -5EC (Groap A)
Walid fo cover auglit of 2031 g 2025 finangial statcnwnis of BEC covgred nshibulaons
BIE Accraditanon Noo 08-0019%98-063-2020, November 27, 2020, valid ustil November 26, 2023
PTR MNo. 853473, January 3, 2022, Makati Cuy

April 1, 2022
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IFEOPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO THE SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

Schedule Confent

I Annex 680 Reconciliation of Retzined Eamings Available for Dividend Dieclaration

1 Anncy Ho-] Seladiulea

»  Schedule A, Fimancisl Asscis

*  Schedule B, Ansosmits Beoeivable froen Dirgerors, Oificers, Employess, Relwed
Parties, and Prmcipal Stockhobdens {(Other than Reftated Parties)

¢ Schadule C. Amsmnts Roocivable from Relatad Paries which ang Eliminatad
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s Schodule D Long-torm Diba

= Schedule E. Indebiedness to Relatod Pares

s Schedule F. Guammiess of Seceritics of (ther Tsusers

»  Schedule G. Capital Siock
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SCHEDULE Il
IPEOPLE. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ANNEX 63-J: SCHEDULES
DECEMBER 3, 2021

Below ane the addinonal mformation and schedubes regquared by Revised Socantics Regulation Code Rule
&8, This information = presented For parpeees of ling with the SEC and is sot negainad pants of the basic
fmamcial ststomaonts.

tehedule A, Fimngial Asswcty
As af Dooomber 3, 2021, the Group has no fmancil asseis m Equity Socunfics,

Below ks the schedake of advences o olficars and employess of the CGrowsp with balances abose
e AN s &t Decombaer 30, 2021

LA | Ay al

Doocmben 31, Liguidations'!  Decomber 3,

e I b ] Ak s £ B v Ml
Mg, Bemigaer I, PrEA DS b= PRERTE Pl 750
Aseilby, Denvse Jondan 20,702 - (RIS WL 137,521
A, Mana Rhados 137317 - - 137,317
Camacho, hlargania 154 344 - - 154 345
Capasmnga, Alvin &3 S - - [
Cran, Mara Flotsa s - I 3EAZD EHT T
Bdkuchi, Khrisiiam 147 R84 - - 1474
Lafrs, Thifis 101K - - 1T,
Lopes, fonathan gt 0 e - TTEED 0l D
Liovrada, Kafrina 128,764 - - 028, Tl
Milpgassmin, Jimmailaain okt M L) - iS00 134,71
Nlarresl, Mark {Eristin r L F - g S 151034
hlesing, Jumes Fomald L NN = 103 250 0, aR0
P, Adgas Kats A 163 007 - 113554 247,153
et L ooodides k! L = G S 157 i
R lom, e Aureliiin BRI - - 145 B
Temdors {rloria 174 4m = = 174, 20
Taostgeo, Dhanilss . LT RN 1 1HE0a
Uy, Francis. Abdnine o o B = L WL LR
Villa, Rt Fonsph I15533 158, T AT ek, TR
Yap, Marss Elrabeth 42321 - L1700 J0L 145
[ hive e, b - e T 10424 357 0
Franciwn, Fak = 44,182 ek 15 By
Hlemars, Aloda . - ik - e e
Paglsawan, Amold - e, S 0 A5 155,548
Young, Michecd - obCF (0 - o3 R0
Ao, Carims Yiowsis T, - hir (el TI.000 135, Bp
Aughibos, Edlin - 158, THh &5l Y8104
Songung, Marshel = a0 543 BE 20 131 343
Bladan, Ared Belly - 8], 317 G A0 p ] )

BaLK T D P i, Tl P AL P, T N

These sdvances perisin (o the officers and employess car plan sgreesments. Such advances are intenest-
hearing and shall be liquafatod on a meoaghly bas. Thore wore no amowsts writton off during the vear.



Below & the schedule of raceivables with related pamics, which are climinated i the consodidasid

finamcial smdemenes as 22 December 30, 2021

Fabsmoe 5 Colfoctiom Pl at
I . . SESNNN - . .4 | Additwes  Lupmdatioen  end of yes
Pas Pacif Compuser Cemicd, . #1, 104,400 (N " AR
Mialayam Fication Syaem, Ine 2 e AR THOYEH ([} 24T 9455 i i ey
hlalwyes Collepes Laguna, Ine. 1414230 10935 thi (25,904,309 5 400 274
hlaleyen Colleges Mmdanao, Inc. . i3 A% 02 %, [0 s T35 048
LUrirverarty of Musva Cacorm LRI LN 4,715, TIN 14, 88 B EE) ER2.08
Matiomal Teachers College 5550 42 (200 1 62K Q0904
A lfeordabls Private Fihacation
Center, Ino. o0 (WD i 1, 00 B (K

Schedule . Long-torm debd
As st December 31, 2021, the Group has outstanding long-temm debis as follow (in thousands;

Usccurad bank loan. LR, D00
Secured bank loans I A04, Gadds
PI. 574,605
LUinsgouped

The Uroug, through NTC. enterad inio a 10-yoar unsecurad tormi loan folsy with a thand party kocal bank
for P6S0,00 million to finance its bailding refurbiskment snd'or exparsion. The principal payments will
be mads 0 28 quanicely paymsents staming May 3002, As of December 31, 2021, wotal deswdown From
the long-term loan facelity amoamicd to PES0 millson, which are subgect o a 5556 fioed mic

The loas is sabgect to comain covenants includsng maineaising & maxiswm debi-10-oquity SIruCten raio
of 3:1. As of Decermber 31, 2001, NTC has complead with s covenant obligations, incbadng maintaising
ihe requsred debi-le-squity mitia, For 2021, inierest expense recograncd in proli or loss amoesied 1o
P21 Y milliom.

Sevsiey
Ie 23019, b Giroup, heough MOMI, enbened into a ken-yoar socurod long-teem koan agreensent with a thard

party local bamk for P1,500.00 millhion (o refmanoe the constnection of MO 1's schood buildings and
Faciligies (bl were imitially Resded by shor-ieren loaas, MUM] made partial drawdonns againsg (s
agreemsent amounting 1o PGS0 00 million, P3%0,00 millics and P4 7000 million is Jnuary, Juese and July
2019, respoctivedy. The loass were subjea i preva ling bormower s rate, phas & minimmum spread of 0L4FS
v annurm. bul im e Gase lower tham 4% por snnun subjoct 1o gEfody repricing. MOM 1 akall epay the
loan in 20 el paariedy instalfiments to stan ot the end of 21 quasmer froen the inicial drewdoss date.,
The lose wiere sécured by the land and related mprovements onmed by MOMI with carmying value of
FRIE20 malleon as of December 31, 2001 and suretyship of MES]L, The loans wens sulbgect i ¢enn
positive and negabive covenants sach as the roguaremont for MES] to maintain its dobi service cover mtio
of ab loast 1.0 & all e asd its debt-to-equity false of & least 75:25 starting om the thind year of the loan
neckoned (Fom initial drawdown date or January 2022,

MUMI incurred dobl isaoe cost amoanting to P12 million which was bong amortized over the boan term
af 10 years usang the effective micrest method, The amoermation of debd i cost amousiing &0
FL4 million was recordod as pan of mlores expenee i 2021



I

Isterest expense, includeng amantization of debl bewe o, amountad o P63.6 millioa & 2021,

Ohnstandsng balanes of long-term loans as of Decoraber 31, 2001 as fllow:

Amiount

Principal P, 500,000
Unamartized debt issie cosl (5,354}
1404,

IGETIS D3R



IPEOPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE TH

GROUP STRUCTURE

DECEMBER 55, 2021

Cfrwspe Nox s o

Below = a map showing the

ip betwoen awd among the Goosp and st ulftimate panani compasy
aed subsidisnics as o Docember 31, 202 0:
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SCHEDULEL

IPEOPLE. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
ANMMNEX 65-I0: RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE
FOR DIVIDESD DECLARATION®

DECEMBER 31, 2821

Amoanl|
ftema Lin thousands)

Unappropeiatod retazsad camangs, @ adinvted fo analahle for P16

aliutribustivn, begpbaning
Add: Net income achaally camed realized during the period
Met inoamae (loax ) during the period cloaed Bo retainsd camimes FEET T
Less: Non-sctual unrealized income net of tax

Equity immet inoome ol associans point venilene -

Unrealueed Parcign eachange galn - st (enoept those

attributable fo cash and  cavh ogaivaloots) -

Unrealizod actuarial gain -

Falg valug sdjusemcin [ MM galem) =

Fair valus adjustmon of lrvestment Propety foualling

i gain

Addpetiment dae to deviation fraom FFREGAAFP-gain

Oiher unrealized gains or adjustments to the retnbned camings

as & resish of censin iransscisons accounied for under PFRS -
Add: Mon-scnal loases

Dpreciation e revalustion increment (afber (a1}

Adjestments due o doviatn from PFRSGAAR - loss

Lipss on Fakr value adjustment of investment propenty {afier tax) -
Sigh-tonal =
et lncame actually realized during § 89, I5h
Ak {Less)
Drividends declaration during the yvesr {312,656
Approprabions of retained camings dening the periad =
Revermal of appropriations =
Effects of sppropeialeans -
EfMocts of prios poniod sdjusimcoas -
Treasury shares -
Tramador b retained camengs of G vahee roierve af odquty

HsmEnts —

Toial Betimnad Earmngs, Eod Avaddabde for Diveddad F1,259,.240
B e e T Ea L L e m————




IFPEOFLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

ANNEX 68-E: SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS
DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND D20

Below are ihe finandcial ratios that ane relovant 1o the Group®s for the years ended December 30

Fnancial rativs ikl 2020
Curneed raly Current Asecits 1.4ik:1 1.16:0
fnieares e Droup’s abiliiy do pry Current LishilEics
aheart-ews odligario
Cunromt Asarts — Propaid
Acsd-best maiso CXpenh 1.22:1 10400
Indirutes Pl Groap's abiline o use it Current Lishilaies

vk oF Mo Carile ateely fo P carrent
tahilifes frmmedamely

Mat

Solvency Ratio I Dkprecsation 2210 i 4=
St o fiberly @ Cirosp will b fo Toeal Lighiletics
contheue mecting U o ol

[hebe-to-cquity ratio Totl Debi b4l 0500
Measures fhe (dronps feverage Equity

Assei o Egaity Ratio Total Aswets 1.4%1 1501
Shirwn forw T Gironge's leverape fdeha) Eqquity
was Iered 1o finaeoe the frm

Imterest Rate Coverage EBiT= 7.083:1 1670
Shrwn furw poenily ar Chromge come ey Interesa Exponse
AF AT cl dsNafanaime okl Exclading Inieress

Expense on Lesse
Liabilities

Return on Average Sockholden” Eguiry Mt Ineonne 6.14% L%
Reflocty i muck the Groug's by Average Eguaty
el ot faly irnsdeod By ol
atckholkers

Wet profil mangin Met Profia Margin 19.81% §.00%
Reflovr o sl et ncowne oF prafiv s T
genvraled av peroomlage of reveting

Return o A ssets Sat Income 412% 1584
Afcaeurs e abdliny o slise phe Grosp’s Total Assits

AOECTE fiF CrcadfE
*Earmiegs bofore imterest anel soves (EBTT)
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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iPFEOPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{Amounts in Thousamds)
Unaidited Andited
March 2023 December 2021
ASSETS
Current Asscls
Cash and cash cguivalents (Notes T and 15) 1,361,700 1,604,129
Recervables (Mot %) GI3982 1,082 85]
Recervables from relmed pariscs (Mole 15) 17489 26077
Prepand experses and olber curment assets {Nole 9) 441,437 1491 021
Finarcaal assets al faor value through profit or loss (FYTPL) 9,213 9,213
Total Current Assets 2.TiIA 822 R el |
Moncarrent Asscls
Property and equipment at cost {Mote 1) 5,196,367 5 AT 008
Land at revalued ansousis {Notes 10 and 11) b 460,845 h, 400 545
Intelleciva] propeery fights (Note &) 22003 523003
Gioodwill (Motes 6 and 12) 151326 51,326
S-ludmlmhium:hip i Bk &) LA 43,71
Right-of-use assets (Note 27) 294,664 109,391
el pension assels 15,130 18,130
Defemed 1ax assets - net 34644 SH. 1S
Oiher noncurrent assets (Mote | 1) 18,785 113671
Total Moncumwend Assels 13, 0% 0 046 I 5,065 55%

Flalﬂ'ﬂ'ﬂ-ﬁl ol L e

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabflliles
Acoounts payable and other current lizbilibies (Motes 14 and 27) PUTIATY PO 119
Short-erm [Gans (MNoke 16) - SLLER L]
Uneamed income (Mote 14) 608319 B5E, 559
Lease labalities - comeri poriion (Moie X7) IRG01 B 5540
Current portion of long-term loas (MNote 17) 21000 210010
Income tax payshle 1954 2157
Pavables o relaed parties (Node 15) 0527 14,135
Dividends pavable (Mote 15} boy 565
Total Currend Liahilitics 1,664,468 82016
MNoncarrend Liabilitics
Hr:t[uuuinn babiliines 125845 134, 153
Loag-tenm boans (MNote 17) 1,854,238 | 853643
Lease habilniss - et of curment portion (Mote 27) JOTETE T 3T
D formed tax labilities - net ART 308 459,169
Oiher noncurrent labalities (Mote 27) £1.3M 51683
Taotal Noncienremt Linhdlsties 2 K10 058 R e K]
Total Liabilities 4,491,526 5,008 841
{Forwand}

12



Unaudited Awditod
March 2022  December 2021
Exquity
Corameon stock (Motes & amd 18] 1, i, 263 P 084 2600
Addinienal paid-in capital {Note 6} 3294368 3,294 368
Other comprehensive oo (boss):
Revalualon increment oa lamd - net (Note 11) 1,633,847 1,633,847
Remeasicemant losses on defened benefit plans (15.033) {15.033)
Equity reserve {Mode 6} (230.494) (230.454)
Retaimed cammgs (Mote 18] 5,138,006 5, 142 AN
Bty annbutable to aquity holders of the Parent Company 11,064,958 1269 371
MNon-controdfling mberest in consplidated subsidianes {Mote 248) 151385 250412
Total Equaty 11,316,342 11, 019203
P15,500.568 Pib, 125044

S i ompiaid B Nooter B0 Cosaafiahvl Jiei G Shaemisils,

I3



iPFEOPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

{Amounis in Theusands)

January 1 e March X1

JnXE e 1 | AN
KEYVEASLE FROM CONTEACTSE WITH CLUSTOMERS
e 1%
Rovenoe from schools and relatod ercratas PET A0 [FEa 3 s ST 150
COSTS AND EXPESNSES
o off scheools ard refatod oporatioes | Nole 300 LT AT 458, 198 £7, 481
LROSS FROFIT GAJET Jod 55T o, 19T
GEXERAL AND ADMINISTREATIVE EXPENSES (Mol 21 [ LR ] [ el 505 (1ak4] 8]
ISTEREST ASDOTHER FINARTE [HEH.EEEI:HI:H r) | 129312]) m-.h:p (350 50
INTEREST IOOME (Motes T and 22} IEgE 1844 LEAF]
OTHER ISEOME (CHARGES) - Ml 1% [ ] [1%9)
1C0ME REFCEE INCOME TAX 195, 1E& I TR 127641
PRONY SN FOR [SC0VE TAX | &ET G5 A L]
RET INCOME 19050 [ WL [ #2450
OTHER COMPEREEHENSIYE INCOME {(LOERS)
ik romprainrnaner Deceeest (o b me! By by reclaseifed o pres o
Jor 1w matnrgsat gy
TAl. FIIESSIYE % | A W] [ [
H adioms allithetabds o
Exquity holders of the parenl ddode 21)* Pl AR PETIS [ EESY
od-CoaiToHlinet iReresl i oofincedbdated suldid iames | ete 34 951 {HI5 4,15
Pl EM FETL LG Flal 450
Tioal codmipechefding iB0ome Fiinbatabie [o;
EM.EIHH‘IID:I'H-F.H'EHJ Fl9 R PI71. 045 Fl33,15]
bomeponirolling ictorest in contelidited subsidiancs (Moo 26 ] {E1LEN 4.1%0
Fidasls PFETL LI Fled 45
Mgl Taflmi e E Fer Share | aic 259 PILENTY P lad T P ESET

Eov gar oA pay g Neves b st Dabired Pl i) Stavesioan

£



iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

{Amounts im Thousamds)

it v e v g Haddwin of The Faradd O i sy

P ami

Hrueey ol Hrpleifes  Seme pugremgni
Eq=im Feremewd Galns il sssng - :
[ emman Yol e gl mai rwmamin g i Lol s e e (e Bt bma @i suni ey
sk, Pid-in Capiial FYECE i el BN Berwaii Fias  Equiy Bowornay F g Lk Tarervat

AN - L e 24 e 10 s B e EH) iwoma 1E) Tetsd a1 Tl
Fer ibe guarity ansd Nargs 16, 1823
Plrnart e ol Jmwmats 1, P 0B Sk L o PlANLET LS La]] [ 4 = ]

Sad i n iy : X - = LS " 1% Lkl e
,'i.‘-.:m-'-" - 3 - - - = . -
e e L R ] - - - - = A58 . - L e 1 A
Ml maws i wd Wars b B, 65T LB Skt F1 T84 il L2 FlaLLELT iFLEEELL AFTHLIRLE LA B P P FIULIES  PELAI& KLY

ot it eqmadlery oiulbol. Wil BI NN
Pk i 1 iy i gk F] R gel e, B r Bl 517 X | (PR [l T Rnih o 00 T LR FEF-TaE g i
T S EE=T] [T [TALT] FTL 1
b W o o o |
Ttad o Laman g o smm { 1) mak 71 mid (k] RN
Mk 5a o L 15 SO0 N [T [ZETETT [ [T =NE] [ o] § 2 0 TR ST T T FUIATEY PRI
Tar tha geaerier smded March 0], 3N
Tilistaon ba o4 Ramaary [ 5006 P [ ey PR TE LT Fl 31T il 1%, Tl P FD 0 FLEIE L T T FEFLIN [ o k|
Fuk! e e R B [EERET] L1 [
1y poymory brmasn 4 emg e
Toie! commppakinar i P 138.38] F3EEM i.1m |8l
180 sl i, Fore! IR BT RiLEEET] FIARECT]
Halmsee g o Mok 10, 7050 [T [T (Ll [ IR VI |, D [T FLEI v et T T T [F=aEEL]] AT

Tl gl et ot § e el N bt ol ot it ookl g
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iIFEDPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Amaounts in Thousands)

Janmary § 1o March 31

2002 2001 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
[RENTTRY o S P ey LY P19 156 PI72.050 PIRTB3I
Adpastments. for:
Dwprociation and apsorttmtion
iBotes 10, 1L 20 and 21) 104554 108,56 | 18654
Iricresi expense amd oibser fisance charpes
Mo X2 o B B o 1S 1 Jaaa%
Peovizson Toe doubiful scooemns Mot § =l 21§ 16915 LR 12,6l
Fterent inccamic (Nale 22 (1,586) {1,944} (3.516)
Linrealiredd Ewcign exchamgs lows {gaind - nel (129 (B9 (18]
Unreadired market boas {gain) on feanciad asweis
m FVTPL - Sl (h
Operaiing incomw belore working capital changes HEINS LA Az | 2y
Dhecreass §incroase b i
Rt iy alvles o] (3703 R
Prepaid e perses and other ourrest asssis (%0 A16) (43,2045 i 26,4510
Inereass idecroass j inc
Ascounts pavablc s other current Haksalities (T7.93T) 0712 ST 20
Linearesad imoome (30.050) (37,7746 (50,1710
Chiber noncoreeed lisbilities T. Tl 4 8% 7.8
Tt prenion pancty aead Bakalilses b, 1y A 4,230
Net cash generated from operations. TEERLE Y10 3SR 146,204
Trncrest paid (14,025) (25474 (20033
Income wxes pasd (1,847) (132 A.65%
Trirafesr seceved [ 1,018 4%
Ml cash fows from ing SClvinies pa | e T e 124 465
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Apquisitions of:
Proporty’ and ogeipmond {HNotc 14} (TALBH0) [F0,955) il 1SR
Ciompegter soffware (Moie 11) (T2 (2501} ilBin)
Dheceease damcrease ) i
Esccivables from related partss (1,41%) [} (351)
Ciher nopcurresd asscls £h | 203 520
Mgt casly flows frosn fussd in) investing sctivitics (EL051) { 1R, 506} (112,480

i Foraand)

I



Janmary | Eo March 51

Pl M hiz| 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Procoods from shord-form boans (Noges 16 and 26) P ) F- P00
Payments of short-temm loans (Motes 16 and 26) (R 80 IREL LT
Devidends paid o deckholders (Moie 26) LE])
Pavemens af leace labilintics { Notes b and I7) (12527 (19.279) (19,141)
lsereass Bboreass | m pavabies e relalesd pestaes

{Node 2t 191 (1%21) 1443
et cash flows froen {used in) mancing senveties ik 135 [ LT 1,502
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 119 for 194
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS (241 A42%) 13K, 100) 15471
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINSING OF YEAR 1604129 1,319,003 1,154 346
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

EXD OF YEAR iMole 7) Pl 361,700 P1,280,902 P1,167,777

S arrnmpsmring Maer i Cnneeialued Minamnal Sraemends

i7



IPEOFLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

E'H'puﬁu- Information

iPFeople, inc. {ihe Parent Compamy) is a publscly-lisied stock conpomEicn registered and incorpomted
on July 27, 1989 under the lows of the Philippines.

The Parenl Company, a subsidiary of Howste of Investrments, Inc. (HIY i a bolding and managerment
company. It pancipal office addness i3 a1 3 Floor. Grepahfe Buslding, 219 Sen. Gal J. Puyat
Avenue, Makati City, 1People, inc, and its subssdianes {collectively referred o as “the Croap'™) are
mainly involved m educabon sector with the |t of subsidianes dasclosed n Note 2.

The Croup is a member of the Yuchengoo Group of Compantes (YOGC), The Group's ultimase parend
is Pan Malayvan Maragenseai ared Investmeni Conposation {(PMMIC)

wil i :
O Apnil 24, 2019, the Secuntics and Exchaage Comimmision (SEC) approved the merper between
iPeaple, ine. and AEL wih iPeople. ine. as the sarviviag cotily. and 1o take effect five business
wiorkmg days thenemiter or May 2, 3019, On saod date, iPeople, me. issued 295 329 976 comnmon
shanes from i sensswed capital stock to AC. Adber the mwrger, iPeople; inc. became 45.15% owned
bw HI amd 33 5% ovwmned by AC, The merger would bring together the educational group of HI ond
AC, Detaals of the merger is disclosed in Nete 6,

i

Basis of Preparation

The conselidated financial sintements of the Crroup have been prepared under the histoncal cost basis,
excepd for the land whach = under revaluation model and linascial assets at Gair value threagh peafit
of loss (FVTPL). The consolidated financial stsements are presented in Philippane Peso (F), which is
the Parent Company”s functiomal currency.  Excepdt as otherwise indicated, all amosings are rounsded
ofT to the nesnes thoucands.

e
The consolidated financial satements have boon prepared in compliance with Philippise Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

The corsolidsted financial statements comprse the Binancial stslements of the Group as ot March 51,
2022 and Decemsber 31, 2021, and for sach of the three years in the periesd ended March 31, 2022
The corsolidated finincial slatermends ane preparcd for the same reportimg year s the Parent

Compasry, using consistent accounting policies.  All sntercompany balances and transactions,
inclading income, experses and dividends, ane ¢lsminated m full,

I



Below are the Group's subsidharics and pereentage of comership:

Mo edi e
Malayvan Education Sysiem, 1ne. (MES]) [Operating Under the Name of
Marea Universiny] and sebasdusties 1840% 1% [
racct i of MES] on its subsidiames:
Miadnyan O Laguma, fnc., A Mapea School (A0L1 | Tel (LS b
Ml Collingen Memdasas 4 Magua Frhooly, Ine (MOM) ] L] L]
Abalavan High School of Sacnee, Tne, | MBSSE I | o | éx»
Mapua. Information Todnekegy Conter, Iné. (MITC) J ] ] L]
Mugpiin Techsery, 1o, I e G 10
hiapas Toelpower, Iae. 5 -3 T35
Peopls eSamve Corporalins I o 1o L]
Pan Pacific Compstor Contor, Incorporsed (FPCCT) I o 0 1
Now sabldisries ks 2009 after the merger (Mot 11
Affordabls Privats Bducation Conder. Ing. doing besiness usder the name of
APEC Scheals I el L LL
Natronul Teschers Colkge dosg bunscid snde the name s
atd atyken of The Natwaal Teachen Colloge . e L
Liniversity of Mueva Caceres Hih1 LT Ein?
AL College of Emerprise and Techaology, [nc. 0 0 T
LN Ittty Ine, dioiag busmc sader the “sams
amd Sle of LING Academy | e roa Lol

All subsidianes were incoeported in the Philippénes.

Subapliarsess are entitics over which the Parent Company has comrel. Contral is achieved when the
Parent Company 15 exposed, or has nghts 1o varmable retumes from s imvelvement with the investes
and hag 1the abality o affect those retitms through 13 power over the investes. Spacafically. the Pasent
Company conirols an invesee if and oaly if the Parent Company has!

s power ovier the mnviestee (e exasting nghts that grve it the current abalsty 1o denect the relevant
activites of the investoe):

o gaposure; of fghts, te vanable renesms feom its mvolvensent with the investoe; amd

»  the ability to wse its power over the investee to affect its pehams.

When the Parent Company has less than a magosity of the voting or similar nights of an investee, the
Farent Company conssders all rebevant facts and carcumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investes, including:

s  the contractual amangement with the olber vode holders of the investes;

s mphts ansang from other contrmctual armangensonts; amd

o the Parent Compasy”s voting nghts asd poteniaal voting righis,

Subspchares are fully consolidated from the date of sequisiteon, being the date on which the Group
odhilamns control, and comtirue 1 b consolidired antil the date when such control ceases.

9



A change in the cwnership imonst of a subsadiary, without 3 loss of costrol, 18 accounted for ad an
oquity transaction. 1 the Groap loses control over a subsidiary, it

derevignetes the avsets (ncludisg poasdwally amd bl of the subsidsary;

recogmizes the fair valoe of the consideration reoeived;

recogrizes any surpus or deficil i profit or loss: and

reciassifies the Group's dhare of components previously recopnized i other comprehensive
e (OCT) 1o profit o b of netaisod carmisgs, a5 approphal,

Man-coatrol lieg imerest represenis inicrest in s subsichasy which 5 nol cwned, dircetly or indiecetly,
by b Pasont Company and ane preseniod scparately in the conschdated statament of comprchonsive
inoonse and within eguaty im the consolidated stalement of financaal positson, separsicly from the
Ciroup s sharchobders equity,  Teansactions with non-goerolleg inteness are hasdlod in the same way
as trarsaciors with external paries.

. Changes In Accounting Policles

The acoounting policies adopled are consistent with those of the previous financial year, excepl for
the adoption of sew standands effectave as @ January 1, 2021, The sdophon of thess promasusocments
thd nit have any sagnificant impadt on the Group™s finascal positian or performanse.

o Amendments io PERS 9, PAS 19, PFRS 7, FFRS 4 and PFRS 16, Inferesr Rate Benclhmark
Reform - Phage 2
e Amencdmerts (o PFRS 16, OO0 10-reloded Rent Congcenrions bevewd 20 fune 2027

Stamddacds lssed bur ot yet Effective
Frosoancemments msued but mot vet effecing are bsted below,

Effective beglmning ow or after January [, 3032
o Amendeents 1o PFRS 3, Referonee fo the Concopiual Fromework
o Amendments 1o PAS 16, Planr sed Eguipmioar; Procevds bofore fatendpd Lhe
o Amendments io PAS 3T, Omerous Comiracts - Cols of Faedliling o Confract
o dmwal Swprovenonty o PERS: 20008-2020 Cywele
o Amendments to PFRS 1, Firn-ame Adopriow of Philippines Flmeectal Reporting Sandardy,
Kuhsialiary as o st adopier
o Amendments bo PFRS 9, Fimmroia! fennmneas, Fees o the "0 por cond* fexil for
dorecogmition of Tnvwciol e
o Amemsdments to PAS 41, Agriowlure, Fecatian in i value sreasieremonds

Effective beginning ow or affer January [, 7023
e Amendmonts 1o PAS §X, Deferred Tax related bo Assets awd Liohilities arivieg from o Saple
T v

o Amendenents o PAS 5 Defieineow af deoomanting Extinarncs
*  Amwndments 1o PAS | and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Déeclosire of Accowating Policies

Effecive begdmaing ow ar affer Sanuary 1, 20504
o Amendmentc to PAS |, Olosdfication of Llatdlives ar Current or Now-currend

20



Effectine begianing ow oF affer Jasuary [, 7005
e PFHS 17, faswrance Condrocis

Deferred effeerivaty
¢ Amendements io PERS 10, Conrolidaned’ Flaaechol Stalementy, and PAS 28, Salr or Comiridetion
oo Aiedd befwpen an fivedtor anmd i Aot ov Sl ety

The Circasp does not expect the fubere sdoptios of the applicable pronouncernents 10 have & significast
impasct om s consolidated fimancial stalemenix.

The Ceroks continies 1o asiess the mnpadt of the above new and amended accounting standasds and
ingerprefabioms effective subsoquent 10 2021 on the Group®s consolidated financaal sisiemenits in the
penod of initis] spplicacion, Additional disclesures requirad by these amsendinenes wall be mehaded in
the consolsdated financial sialements when these amendmonts ane adopled.

. Summary of Significant Accoanting Poliches

Cash any Cash Feparvaloms

Cash inchides ¢ash on band and im banks. Cach equivalests are shoet-term, highly lsquid isvesements
theat are roadsly corvertable to known amoiss of cash wath onginal mansntics of three (3) months o
less from date of placement and that are sebject to an msigmficant nsi of changes in value.

Eair salus messunensns

Fair value is the price that would be received 1o sl an asset or paid 1o transfir a |sabslity in a0 orderly
Iransactson hetween market pasticwpants 3 the measssrement date. The fair value meassrensont o
bazed on the presamption thad the tramsaction to sell the asset or tansber e labality akes place
cither:

e n the principal market or the asset o labality; o
*  ln the absence of a prencapal markietl, = the most advantagesos market Tor the assel or habhiy,

The principal or the mosi advantageous market musi be acocssible to the CGrosp.

The fair value of an assel or a liabilaly i measared using the assumplsons thal marks! paticpants
wiollld wer when pricing the asset or liabidity. asssming that market pariicipants act in their coomomic
he:sl imeriest.

A Fair valse mseasurensent of o non-financaall ascet takies isto secount a market passcipant's ability go
peneraie coonome Benelits by axing the aisct im0 haghea aad bea use of by selling 1t 1o anothee
iarked partscynant thet waouild we the assel i its bighest and best use,

The Cerosap uses vaduation technigues that are appropniaie m the corcumetances and fior whach
sufficeent dats are available 1o measure fair value, maamieg the use of relevant obsenable inpats
anid mumnuaing the wse of unobservable mpits,

All assets and hatbiies for wheh far vabue es measured or diselosed = the consolidated finsncal

slatemenis are crlegornad within the Faer value hicrarchy, descnibed as follows, basad oo the kowess
bevel input that is significest o the fuir vaboe measurement 25 a whode

¢ Level § - Quoted (unadjussad) naarket prices m sctive rarkets for identical sseets o liabilsties

e



